
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
  DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

NORTHERN DIVISION 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
EDWARD RED OWL, 
 
  Defendant. 
 

 
 CR. 13-10015-04 

 
 
 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF 
 MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT 

 
 Defendant, Edward Red Owl, hereby submits the following brief in support of his motion to 

dismiss the indictment pursuant to Rule 12(b)(3)(B) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 

because it fails to state an offense.  

FACTS 

 On March 6, 2013, The United States indicted Red Owl for conspiracy to commit theft from 

an Indian Tribal Organization, theft from an Indian Tribal Organization, and aiding and abetting in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, 1163, and 2.  The Indictment alleges that the Sisseton-Wahpeton 

Housing Authority is an Indian tribal organization whose purpose is to provide housing services and 

assistance to eligible members of the Sisseton Wahpeton Oyate Tribe. (See Docket 2, Indictment at ¶ 

1).  According to the Indictment, the Lake Traverse District is a subdivision of the Tribe. (See 

Indictment, ¶ 2).  The Indictment also alleges that the Lake Traverse Economic Development 

Corporation (LTEDC) is a for-profit business entity established by the District to promote 

economic development in the District.  (Id. at ¶ 3).  The Lake Traverse Aid Incorporation (LTAI) is 

a non-profit entity established by the Lake Traverse Economic Development Corporation to further 

promote economic development in the Lake Traverse District.  (Id. at ¶ 4).  Defendants were on the 

board of directors of both entities. (Id. at ¶ 5).  
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The Indictment alleges that Red Owl and co-defendants knowingly converted to their own 

use over $1,000 of the moneys, funds, credits, goods, assets and other property belonging to the 

Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate Sioux Tribe, an Indian tribal organization.  (See id. at ¶ B).   Specifically, it 

alleges that the Lake Traverse District and the LTEDC acquired three trailer homes to be given to 

three District members in need of new housing.  (Id. at ¶ D.1).  According to the Indictment, 

Defendants then, on behalf of the LTAI, submitted a voucher to the Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing 

Authority requesting reimbursement from the Tribe’s Homebuyers Program in the amount of 

$15,700 because LTAI paid for the transport and set up of the three trailer homes. (Id. at ¶ D.3).  

The Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing Authority issued a check in that amount to LTAI, which was 

deposited into its checking account. (Id. at ¶¶ D.4-D.5).  LTAI later wrote checks to Defendants, 

which Defendants cashed. (Id. at ¶ D.5).  The United States alleges that this conduct amounts to 

embezzlement, theft, or conversion of the property of an Indian tribal organization, in violation of § 

1163.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Rule 7(c)(1) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure states that “[t]he indictment . . . shall 

be a plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense 

charged.” It “shall state the statute, rule, regulation, or other provision of law which the defendant is 

alleged therein to have violated.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c)(1).  Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b) 

provides that a defendant may seek dismissal of an indictment that fails to state an offense.  Fed. R. 

Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(B). On a pretrial motion to dismiss an indictment pursuant to Rule 12(b), the court 

must accept all factual allegations in the indictment as true. United States v. Sampson, 371 U.S. 75, 78-

79, 83 (1962).  But to be sufficient, an indictment must contain the elements of the offense charged. 

United States v. White, 241 F.3d 1015, 1021 (8th Cir. 2001).  If an indictment omits “an essential 

element of substance” it is insufficient, although use of a particular word or phrase in the indictment 
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is not required.  United States v. Mallen, 843 F.2d 1096, 1102 (8th Cir. 1988).  Although no particular 

words or phrases are necessarily required, “[i]t is well-established in [the Eighth] Circuit that citation 

of the statute, without more, does not cure the omission of an essential element of the charge 

because bare citation of the statute is of scant help in deciding whether the grand jury considered the 

missing element in charging the defendant.” United States v. Olson, 262 F.3d 795, 799 (8th Cir. 2001).   

ARGUMENT 

 The Indictment alleges that Defendants, by cashing checks from LTAI, embezzled, stole, 

knowingly converted to their use, or willfully misapplied the funds of an Indian tribal organization in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1163.  But the Indictment does not allege that LTAI is an Indian tribal 

organization within the meaning of the statute or that the Sisseton-Wahpeton Tribal Housing 

Authority, which the Indictment does allege is an Indian tribal organization, wrongfully paid LTAI.  

Consequently, the indictment is facially deficient and must be dismissed.  

I. The “embezzled, stolen, converted, or misapplied” funds did not belong to an Indian 
tribal organization.   
 

Under 18 U.S.C. § 1163, “[w]hoever embezzles, steals, knowingly converts to his use or the 

use of another, willfully misapplies, or willfully permits to be misapplied, any of the moneys, funds, 

credits, goods, assets, or other property belonging to any Indian tribal organization . . .” has 

committed a federal crime.  The United States has alleged that Defendants converted the funds of 

the Sisseton Wahpeton Housing Authority, an Indian tribal organization, or the Sisseton Wahpeton 

Oyate Sioux tribe.  But this argument ignores the plain meaning of the statute because the funds did 

not “belong to” either the Sisseton Wahpeton Housing Authority or the Sisseton Wahpeton Oyate 

Sioux tribe at the time that the Defendants allegedly converted them.  

“It is well established that [the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals] commence[s] any statutory 

interpretation with the statute's plain language.” United States v. Cacioppo, 460 F.3d 1012, 1016 (8th 

Cir. 2006); see also In re M & S Grading, Inc., 457 F.3d 898, 901 (8th Cir. 2006) (“[A] federal court's 
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analysis of a statute must begin with the plain language.”). If the statutory language is plain, the court 

concludes its analysis and gives the term its ordinary meaning. See United States v. McCall, 439 F.3d 

967, 971 (8th Cir. 2006) (“When a statute's plain language is this clear, it is controlling, without 

regard to contrary hints in the legislative history and without the need to refer to the canons of 

noscitur a sociis and ejusdem generis.”); see also United States v. Ron Pair Enters., Inc., 489 U.S. 235, 241 

(1989) (“Where . . . the statute's language is plain, the sole function of the courts is to enforce it 

according to its terms.” (quotation omitted.)).  

“Belonging to” is not defined in the statute.  But because the statutory language is plain, its 

ordinary meaning should apply.  To belong is “to be the property of a person or thing,” Merriam-

Webster’s Dictionary (2013 ed.), or “to be the property or concern of.” Webster’s II New College Dictionary 

((1995 ed.).  The Indictment alleges that the “Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing Authority issued a check 

in the approximate amount of $15,700 payable to the LTAI as reimbursement . . .” (See Indictment 

at ¶ C.4, Docket 2).  LTAI subsequently deposited the check into its bank account and shortly 

thereafter “checks were written to and cashed by Defendants.” (Id. at ¶ C.5).1  The United States 

alleges that these actions amounted to a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1163.  In other words, by cashing 

the check issued by LTAI to Defendants, the United States alleges that Defendants embezzled, stole, 

and converted to their own use funds belonging to the Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing Authority, an 

Indian tribal organization.  

“A check is a bill of exchange, drawn on a bank, and payable on demand.” W.B. Farms v. 

Fremont Nat. Bank & Trust Co., 756 F.2d 663, 666 (8th Cir. 1985).  Checks are “three-cornered 

transactions” with three parties:  “the person who signs the check, then delivering it to someone else 

in payment for goods or services, is known as the drawer . . . the drawee of the check is the bank to 

which it is directed, in which, presumably, the drawer has an account.  The third party to the 

                                                 
1 The United States has made no allegation that LTAI is an Indian tribal organization within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 
1163.   
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transaction is the payee, the person to whose order the check is made payable[.]” Id.  But “[c]hecks 

are not instant assignments of the drawer’s funds to the payee.” Id. Rather, a check is just an order 

of the drawer to pay the holder and does not effectuate payment until it has been presented to and 

honored by the drawee bank. See In re Taylor, 332 B.R. 609, 611 (W.D. Mo. 2005).  Once a check has 

been honored by the drawee bank, it is no longer the property of the drawer.  Id.  See also In re Pyatt, 

486 F.3d 423, 427 (8th Cir. 2007) (holding that once checks had been honored by the bank, they 

were no longer property of the debtor’s bankruptcy estate).  Here, the Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing 

Authority is the drawer and LTAI is the payee. (See Exhibit A, Check from Sisseton-Wahpeton 

Housing Authority to Lake Traverse Aid Inc., Bates No. 00085).  Once the drawee honored the 

check, the funds it represented ceased belonging to the Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing Authority and 

became the property of LTAI.  The United States has made no allegation that LTAI is an Indian 

tribal organization within the meaning of § 1163.  Consequently, Defendants’ actions could not have 

violated 18 U.S.C. § 1163 because the funds did not “belong to” an Indian tribal organization at the 

time of the alleged offense.  Therefore, the Indictment fails to state an offense and should be 

dismissed. 

II. LTAI is not an “Indian tribal organization” under 18 U.S.C. § 1163. 

The Indictment does not allege that LTAI is an Indian tribal organization within the 

meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1163.  But even if it did, the United States could not establish that LTAI falls 

under the statute’s definition.  LTAI was established by the Lake Traverse District and is not 

controlled by the Sisseton Wahpeton Oyate Sioux Tribe.  The Indictment, therefore, fails to state an 

offense. 

The statute defines the term “Indian tribal organization” to mean “any tribe, band, or 

community of Indians which is subject to the laws of the United States relating to Indian affairs or 

any corporation, association, or group, which is organized under any of such laws.” Id.  Thus, 
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whether an entity is an “Indian tribal organization” is an element of the offense. See United States v. 

White Horse, 807 F.2d 1426, 1429-30 (8th Cir. 1986) (holding whether the Cheyenne River Sioux 

Tribe Telephone Authority was an “Indian tribal organization” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 

1163 was “a fact essential to conviction such that a conviction could only stand if the jury concluded 

that this fact was proven beyond a reasonable doubt”). See also United States v. Zephier, 916 F.2d 1368, 

1376 (8th Cir. 1990) (noting that “[u]nder the circumstances of this case, however, the definition of 

Indian tribal organization plays critical importance”).  It does not appear that the United States is 

alleging that any of the entities mentioned in the indictment are a “tribe, band, or community of 

Indians.”  Consequently, the Court must evaluate whether LTAI is a “corporation, association, or 

group” “organized under the laws of the United States relating to Indian affairs.” See Zephier, 916 

F.2d at 1375.  There are two considerations for this inquiry: “(1) whether the tribes possesses de 

facto control over [LTAI], and (2) whether [LTAI] deliberately complied with or conformed to the 

laws for Indian affairs.” Id.  In this case, only the first factor, the degree of tribal control, is relevant 

to the inquiry.  See United States v. Pemberton, 121 F.3d 1157, 1170 (8th Cir. 1997) (reasoning that “the 

only factor relevant for the jury’s consideration in the case of a corporation chartered under tribal 

authority is the degree of control over the corporation possessed by the tribe”). 

The Indictment alleges that the Lake Traverse District is a “subdivision” of the Sisseton 

Wahpeton Oyate Sioux Tribe.  (See Indictment, ¶ 2, Docket 2).  But the Lake Traverse District is a 

local government, authorized to “manage its own affairs” under the tribal constitution, not subject 

to the authority of the Tribe.  See Sisseton Wahpeton Oyate Tribal Constitution, Art. IV, Sec. 4 

(“Each District shall manage its own affairs not inconsistent with the Tribe’s Constitution”).  Each 

District is its own form of local government.  The Tribe has also treated it as a distinct and separate 

entity from the Tribe. (See Exhibit B, Tribal Council Resolution No. SWO-06-086).  The Districts 

have established their own councils and are accountable to District members for all District affairs. 

6 
 



(Id.)  They have their own elections to elect their District officers. (Id.)  They have the power to sue 

and be sued, establish their own budgets, and have the power to levy taxes to set rates or charges 

within the Districts. (Id.)  Moreover, the Districts own and operate their own economic 

development projects and some districts have established separate district organization to manage 

those projects. (Id.).  The Tribe does not even include the Districts as a part of their federal financial 

reporting, out of recognition for the Districts’ statuses as separate, local governments.  (Id.) 

Consequently, the Sisseton Wahpeton Oyate Sioux Tribe does not exercise any control over the 

Lake Traverse District and its activities as a local sovereign.  As part of these sovereign activities, the 

Lake Traverse District established LTEDC, which in turn established LTAI, as a non-profit entity to 

further promote economic development in the Lake Traverse District. Thus, the Tribe possesses no 

control over LTAI and it cannot be considered an “Indian tribal organization” under 18 U.S.C. § 

1163 and Eighth Circuit precedent.  Because whether LTAI is an “Indian tribal organization” is an 

essential element of the offense, the Indictment is subject to dismissal under Rule 12(b)(3)(B) of the 

Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

CONCLUSION 

The United States alleges that Red Owl and the other Defendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 1163, 

which provides a penalty of up to five years imprisonment for embezzling, stealing, converting, or 

willfully misapplying funds or other property belonging to an Indian tribal organization.  More 

specifically, the Indictment alleges that the Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing Authority, an Indian tribal 

organization, wrote a check reimbursing LTAI for its expenses in transporting and setting up three 

trailer homes in the Lake Traverse District.  LTAI then deposited the check in its own account and 

issued checks to Defendants, who allegedly used those funds for their own purposes.  The 

Indictment fails to state an offense for two reasons.  First, at the time of the relevant alleged 

conduct, the funds were not the property of the Sisseton-Wahpeton Housing Authority or the 
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Sisseton Wahpeton Tribe, the only entities that the United States alleges are Indian tribal 

organizations within the meaning of the statute.  Second, even if the Indictment contained an 

allegation that LTAI is an Indian tribal organization, it should be dismissed because LTAI is not an 

Indian tribal organization within the meaning of the statute.   LTAI was established by the Lake 

Traverse District and is not under the control of the Sisseton Wahpeton Tribe, as required by the 

Eighth Circuit’s interpretation of 18 U.S.C. § 1163.  Therefore, Red Owl respectfully requests that 

his Motion to Dismiss the Indictment be granted pursuant to Rule 12(b)(3)(B) of the Federal Rules 

of Criminal Procedure and that the charges against him be dismissed. 

Dated this 9th day of July, 2013.  

      JOHNSON, HEIDEPRIEM  
      & ABDALLAH, L.L.P. 
 
      BY___/s/ Pamela R. Bollweg_____________ 
      Pamela R. Bollweg   
      P.O. Box 2348 
      Sioux Falls, SD 57101-2348 
      Telephone: (605) 338-4304 
      pamela@jhalawfirm.com 
       
      Attorneys for Defendant, Edward Red Owl 

 

 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on this 9th day of July, 2013, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss Indictment was served via electronic filing upon  

Ann Marie Hendrickson 
U.S. ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
PO Box 2638  
Sioux Falls, SD 57101-2638  
Telephone: (605) 330-4400  
ann.hendrickson@usdoj.gov 

 
 

  /s/   Pamela R. Bollweg     
      Pamela R. Bollweg 


